IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,695

PEREZ-ABREU, ZAMORA & DE LA FE, P.A. and ENRIQUE ZAMORA,

Petitioners,

VS.

3d DCA CASE NO. 97-989

MANUEL E. TARACIDO, MEDICAL CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC., MEDICAL CENTERS OF AMERICA AT SOUTH FLORIDA, and MEDICAL CENTERS OF AMERICA AT CENTRAL FLORIDA,

Respondents.
PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT
PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

August 21, 1998

ADORNO & ZEDER, P.A. Raoul G. Cantero, III Jonathan D. Colan 2601 South Bayshore Dr., Suite 1600 Miami, Florida 33133

Attorneys for Petitioners

INTRODUCTION

This is a petition to review a decision of the District Court of Appeal for the Third District based on express and direct conflict with decisions both of this Court and of other districts. This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b), Fla. Const. (1980); Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The petition arises from a summary judgment based on a statute of limitations defense in a legal malpractice case. The Petitioners are attorneys who represented the Respondents in a sale of stock. The buyer of the stock later sued the Respondents. The attorney representing the Respondents in that lawsuit told them that the contracts had been improperly drafted. The litigation was later settled. More than two years after they learned of the potential malpractice, but less than two years after the litigation was settled, Respondents sued their corporate attorneys. The sole issue is whether the limitations period began when the clients learned of the malpractice, or only after the litigation resulting from the malpractice was settled.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT TYPE

The undersigned certifies that this brief was drafted using the Times New Roman 14 point font type.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Manuel Taracido was an officer, director, and half owner of Medical Centers of America, Inc. ("MCA"), a marketing company for, and owner of, medical centers (SR. 31, 42, 51). Charles Childers, who owned stock in one medical center, later bought from Taracido stock in two others (R. 1:30, 37; SR. 2, 28, 100, 196). Enrique Zamora of Perez-Abreu, Zamora & de la Fe, P.A., both Petitioners ("Attorneys"), represented Taracido and MCA ("Clients") and drafted the agreements used in the sale (R. 1:26; SR. 76, 236).

Childers later became dissatisfied with the companies' diminished profits and threatened to sue (SR. 228-29, 235). The parties negotiated for return of the stock, with Taracido depositing \$20,000 in the Attorneys' escrow account (SR. 26, 105-06, 132). Taracido later refused to repurchase the shares and a dispute developed over the funds held in escrow (SR. 106).

The Attorneys interpleaded the funds, naming as defendants MCA, Childers, and Taracido (R. 1:113-14). In 1990, Childers filed a crossclaim and third-party complaint against MCA asserting fraud; negligence; violations of sections 517.301 and 517.211, Florida Statutes; civil theft; breach of fiduciary duty; and breach of the settlement agreement (SR. 1, 4-9). Childers alleged that Taracido had

misrepresented the centers' net worth, the profitability of third-party contracts, and the use for the funds received in the stock sale (SR. 3-4).

Sometime before June 1990, Taracido met with his litigation attorney, who told him that the stock purchase agreements violated the Florida Securities and Investor Protection Act and that the agreement was defective because it was missing a disclosure provision (SR. 237-39). In January 1992, the parties settled their dispute (SR. 167). In the settlement agreement, Taracido stated his belief that "Childers may prevail in the pending Litigation by virtue of an asserted violation of the provisions of Chapter 517, Florida Statutes" (SR. 167).

In December 1993, almost two years after the settlement and more than two years after the Clients learned that the stock purchase agreements were defectively drafted, the Clients sued the Attorneys for malpractice (R. 1:25). The complaint alleged that the Attorneys failed to advise the Clients that they had to disclose their financial condition and that the agreement must acknowledge such disclosures (R. 1:26). It also asserted that "the Childers litigation alleged that the [Clients] had failed to disclose the financial condition of the companies in which the

¹ The district court's opinion mistakenly cites the settlement date as January 1993, rather than 1992 (R. 2:136). The opinion is reported at 705 So. 2d 41.

stock was being purchased and failed to disclose the use of proceeds of the sale of the stock. Such failures were the direct result of the [Attorneys] failing to properly advise the [Clients] as to the necessary disclosures" (R. 1:27). The Clients alleged as damages not only the amount of their settlement with Childers, but also the expense of defending the shareholder litigation (R. 1:29).

The Attorneys moved for summary judgment on two grounds: (1) as a matter of law, the attorney did not commit malpractice; and (2) the statute of limitations had expired (R. 1:61, 67). The parties later agreed that summary judgment was inappropriate on the malpractice issue (R. 1:97, 112). The court held a hearing on the second ground and determined that the limitations period had expired (R. 1:128).² The court granted summary judgment in Defendants' favor (R. 1:130).

On appeal, the district court reversed, holding that "the statute of limitations in prior transactional legal malpractice actions begins to run when related

² The judge also mentioned that summary judgment might have been appropriate on the merits because the affidavit filed on the Clients' behalf did not state that the Attorneys' conduct fell below the standard of care (R. 1:128). The existence of malpractice is not an issue before this Court, and therefore is assumed for purposes of determining when the limitations period begins. Whether the Attorneys committed malpractice remains hotly contested.

third party litigation is concluded" (R. 2:136-37). The court denied the Attorneys' motion for rehearing and for rehearing *en banc* (R. 2:141, 149).

The Attorneys sought review in this Court based on express and direct conflict between the district court's opinion and those from this Court and other district courts of appeal. The brief on jurisdiction noted that this Court granted review of *Silvestrone v. Edell*, 701 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997), *review granted*, 23 Fla. L. Weekly No. 10 (Fla. Feb. 26, 1998), which considered when the limitations period begins for litigational malpractice, and argued that review of this case along with *Silvestrone* would allow the Court to offer complete guidance on the subjects of both transactional and litigational legal malpractice. This Court accepted jurisdiction in this case but dispensed with oral argument.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A cause of action accrues when the injured party incurs *some* damages, even if the damages are still incomplete. *City of Miami v. Brooks*, 70 So. 2d 306, 308 (Fla. 1954). The Client's cause of action accrued when they learned that the stock purchase agreements had been defectively drafted and were forced to defend the shareholder litigation.

This case is indistinguishable from *Edwards v. Ford*, 279 So. 2d 851 (Fla. 1973), where this Court held that the cause of action accrued when the clients learned that the contract their attorney drafted was "probably usurious," not when the subsequent litigation was eventually settled. *Id.* at 853. The district court's opinion contradicts *Edwards* and other cases holding that a cause of action for transactional legal malpractice accrues when the client learns of the negligent act, not when the related litigation is concluded.

The district court's opinion also contradicts the plain language of the statute of limitations. The statute provides that limitations period begins when the cause of action is discovered. § 95.11(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (1989). The plain wording requires that the limitations period begin when the Clients learned of the malpractice, regardless of when related third-party litigation concludes.

Finally, the district court's opinion, if affirmed, would extend the statute of limitations for transactional legal malpractice into the indefinite future. Under the district court's holding, a cause of action for transactional legal malpractice may not accrue for many years after a transaction. Faded memories and purged files may prejudice the attorney's defense in such cases. The statute already liberally extends

the limitations period by providing that the period does not begin until the negligence is discovered. This period should not be extended even further.

ARGUMENT

THE CLIENTS' CLAIM IS BARRED BECAUSE IT WAS FILED MORE THAN TWO YEARS AFTER THEY LEARNED THAT THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENTS WERE DEFECTIVELY DRAFTED AND BEGAN EXPENDING ATTORNEYS' FEES DEFENDING THE RESULTING LITIGATION

The statute of limitations for legal malpractice is two years, "provided that the period of limitations shall run from the time the cause of action is discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence." § 95.11(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (1989).³ The limitations period begins when the client learns of the negligence. *Edwards v. Ford*, 279 So. 2d 851, 853 (Fla. 1973). This doctrine is known as the "discovery rule." *See* Dougherty, Annotation, *When Statute of Limitations Begins to Run Upon Action Against Attorney For Malpractice*, 32 A.L.R. 4th 260 § 2 (1981).

7

³ The statute has not changed. *See* § 95.11(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997).

A. Cases applying the discovery rule to transactional legal malpractice have held that a cause of action accrues when the client learns of the malpractice and begins suffering damages, such as by defending litigation resulting from the malpractice

The general rule is that a cause of action accrues when the injured party incurs *some* damages, even if all the damages have not been incurred:

The general rule, of course, is that where an injury, although slight, is sustained in consequence of the wrongful act of another, and the law affords a remedy therefor, the statute of limitation attaches at once. It is not material that all the damages resulting from the act shall have been sustained at that time and the running of that statute is not postponed by the fact that the actual or substantial damages do not occur until a later date.

City of Miami v. Brooks, 70 So. 2d 306, 308 (Fla. 1954). This rule has been regularly applied to legal malpractice cases. See Sawyer v. Earle, 541 So. 2d 1232, 1234 (Fla. 2d DCA) (statute of limitations not tolled merely because client, although knowing of the malpractice, is not able to determine the full extent of the damages, citing Brooks), cause dismissed, 545 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1989), disapproved on other grounds, 565 So. 2d 1323 (Fla. 1990); Breakers of Fort Lauderdale, Ltd. v. Cassel,

⁴ In *Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. v. Lane*, 565 So. 2d 1323 (Fla. 1990), this Court disapproved *Sawyer* "to the extent it conflicts with this decision." *Id.* at 1327. The Court acknowledged, however, that "this case can, to a certain extent,

528 So. 2d 985, 986 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) (cause of action accrued when defendant learned that its attorney had improperly failed to settle the lawsuit, requiring client to continue to defend it, because "damage from that failure, although not then completely ascertainable, is immediate," citing *Brooks*); *Kellermeyer v. Miller*, 427 So. 2d 343, 346-47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (cause of action accrued when damage occurred, even though the amount remained uncertain, citing *Brooks*).

As shown below, this Court, other Florida courts, and other states, in applying the discovery rule to transactional legal malpractice, apply the *Brooks* rule and hold that the cause of action accrues when the client learns of the malpractice and begins suffering some damage -- such as by expending attorneys' fees in defending litigation resulting from the malpractice -- and not when the resulting litigation is concluded and all the damages can be ascertained.

1) This Court's decision in *Edwards v. Ford* governs this case

be distinguished from [Sawyer] . . ." Id. at 1326. In fact, the Court quoted with approval Sawyer's holding that a cause of action accrues even though the exact amount of damages has not been determined. Id. at 1326-27. The only conflict was Sawyer's dictum that a cause of action for litigation malpractice always accrues when the client discovers the negligence. In Peat, Marwick, this Court disapproved such a broad rule. This case does not concern litigation malpractice.

This Court, considering similar facts, concluded that the limitations period begins when the client learns of the malpractice and suffers some damages. See Edwards v. Ford, 279 So. 2d at 851. In Edwards, attorneys drafted an agreement for purchase, leaseback, and repurchase of property to a corporation. The corporation later sued the clients, alleging the agreement was usurious. The case was settled. When the attorneys sued the clients for their attorneys' fees, the clients counterclaimed for malpractice. This Court held that the limitations period began when the clients knew "that a cause of action had accrued in their favor" -- that is, when they were informed that the agreement was "probably usurious." Id. at 853. At that point, the clients "had knowledge that a cause of action had accrued in their favor" and had suffered "accompanying damages (even though perhaps minimal at that point)." Id.

Edwards acknowledges that the limitations period begins when the client learns during a lawsuit that its corporate attorneys have done something wrong. At that point, the client knows that a cause of action has accrued, even if its damages are minimal. At that point, redressable harm is established. *Cf. Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. v. Lane*, 565 So. 2d 1323, 1325 (Fla. 1990) (generally, a cause of action for negligence does not accrue until the existence of a redressable harm is established and the injured party knows or should know of either the injury or the negligent act).

In this case, the district court held that the fact that the Clients were served with a lawsuit and advised by counsel of possible negligence does not constitute redressable harm (R. 2:138). This holding contradicts *Edwards*. Under *Edwards*, the cause of action accrued when the Clients learned of the malpractice and began suffering damages. The damages they seek in this case include the attorneys' fees they expended in defending the shareholder litigation, which they argue was a direct result of the malpractice. This is more than the "knowledge of potential harm" the district court held was insufficient (R. 2:138).

According to the district court, "it was not clear that the plaintiffs had suffered damage until the conclusion of the shareholder litigation. Damage became apparent once the case was settled. At that time, the attorneys' negligence in drafting the contracts resulted in actual harm to their former clients" (R. 2:139). This assumption -- that actual harm occurred only when the shareholder litigation was settled -- overlooks the attorneys' fees the Clients expended in defending that case before settlement, which they assert as damages in this case.

2) Other Florida courts have held that a cause of action for transactional legal malpractice accrues when the client learns of the malpractice, not when the related litigation is concluded

11

Several Florida courts have held that a cause of action for transactional legal malpractice accrues when the client learns of the malpractice. See Zitrin v. Glaser, 621 So. 2d 748, 750 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (cause of action for malpractice in drafting employment agreement accrued when employee breached the agreement, not when breach of contract case was complete); Kellermeyer, 427 So. 2d at 346-47 (cause of action accrued when client discovered, in an action to recover under promissory note, that its attorney had defectively drafted closing documents, not when foreclosure proceeding was concluded). See also Hampton v. Payne, 600 So. 2d 1144, 1145 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (city's ruling that it lacked jurisdiction over petition for reinstatement because the employee had not timely appealed her dismissal, or, at least, the employee's discharge of her attorney two years later, placed her on notice that her attorney had committed malpractice), review denied, 617 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1993); *Martin v. Pafford*, 583 So. 2d 736, 739 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (cause of action for legal malpractice accrued when client's subsequent attorney informed her that "it appears that your [former] attorney was incompetent," not when post-conviction proceeding finding ineffective assistance of counsel concluded); Sawyer, 541 So. 2d at 1234 (cause of action for legal malpractice accrued when client discharged his attorney and began suffering damages from the malpractice, not when his bar grievance was concluded); *Breakers*, 528 So. 2d at 986 (cause of action accrued when defendant learned that its attorney had improperly failed to settle the lawsuit, requiring client to continue to defend it, not when the case was eventually settled for a greater amount).

Results in federal court have been similar. In *Pioneer Nat. Title Ins. Co.* v. Andrews, 652 F.2d 439 (5th Cir. Unit B 1981), the court interpreted section 95.11(4)(a) in a legal malpractice action. A title insurer hired an attorney to perform a title search, and issued a policy based on the results. The title insurer was later sued based on a defective title. The court held that title insurer's cause of action against attorney who performed the title search accrued when the insurer incurred the expense of defending itself in a defective title suit. *Id.* at 442.

In all these cases, the cause of action accrued when the client discovered the malpractice, even though the damages from the negligence were incomplete. Similarly, in this case the cause of action accrued when the Clients learned of the defectively-drafted stock purchase agreement and began expending attorneys' fees in defending the resulting litigation.

Although some Florida cases involving transactional legal malpractice have held that the cause of action did not accrue until litigation was concluded, in

those cases the litigation did not result from the malpractice, and therefore the attorneys' fees incurred could not be recovered as damages. See, e.g., Zuckerman v. Ruden, Barnett, McClosky, Smith, Schuster & Russell, P.A., 670 So. 2d 1050, 1051 (Fla. 3d DCA) (client would suffer no damages from the attorneys' malpractice in drafting loan documents unless the client were unable to foreclose on the mortgage, which could not be determined until the foreclosure action was resolved), review denied, 679 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 1996); Throneburg v. Boose, Casey, Ciklin, Lubitz, Martens, McBane & O'Connell, P.A., 659 So. 2d 1134 (Fla. 4th DCA) (cause of action for attorney's malpractice in amending declaration of covenants on property did not accrue until a court ruled the amendment invalid), cause dismissed, 664 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 1995); Spivey v. Trader, 620 So. 2d 212, 213 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (cause of action for attorney's malpractice in advice concerning transfer of properties, which resulted in execution against the properties, did not accrue until a judgment was rendered in proceedings supplementary to personal injury action); Adams v. Sommers, 475 So. 2d 279, 280-81 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) (cause of action did not accrue until validity of mortgage was finally determined on appeal, especially because the attorney kept assuring the client that the circuit court did not have jurisdiction).

In these cases, the cause of action did not accrue until the instruments the attorney had prepared were declared invalid in totally unrelated litigation. Only then did the malpractice become apparent. Here, the question is not the agreements' validity, but whether they adequately protected the Clients from having to defend a claim in the first place. The Clients allege that had the Attorneys properly advised them, they would have disclosed the information required for the stock sale, and the agreements would have acknowledged the disclosures. Therefore, the shareholder litigation would not have been filed. Moreover, because the litigation involved in these other cases (such as a foreclosure proceeding) was unrelated to the malpractice, the fees expended in the litigation were not part of the damages. Here, however, as in *Edwards* and the other cases cited above, the shareholder litigation resulted directly from the malpractice.

One court has explained the difference between these two situations:

If the lower court's ruling, which was adverse to the client, was reversed on appeal, would the client still have a legal cause of action for malpractice? Where the response to this question is in the negative, the statute of limitations begins to run at the time an appellate decision is rendered; otherwise, the applicable statute of limitations would begin when the client knew or should have known of the alleged malpractice. In *Graham v. Holler*, 499 So. 2d 62, 63 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), we phrased the question somewhat differently as: Whether the collateral litigation, depending on its outcome, could have negated an attorney's delinquent act.

Drake v. Simons, 583 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 5th DCA), *review denied*, 592 So. 2d 682 (Fla. 1991). Here, had the Clients prevailed in the shareholder litigation, they nevertheless would have an action for malpractice because, according to them, had the Attorneys included a disclosure provision in the agreements and advised them of disclosure requirements, the Clients would not have been sued. Their damages began when they had to defend litigation resulting from the malpractice.

3) Other states applying the discovery rule to legal malpractice claims have held that a cause of action accrues when the client learns of the malpractice and defends the resulting litigation

Other jurisdictions, applying the discovery rule to legal malpractice claims, recognize that a claim accrues when the client incurs fees and costs in

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