IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 92,695

PEREZ-ABREU, ZAMORA & DE LA FE, P.A. and ENRIQUE ZAMORA,

Petitioners,

3d DCA CASE NO. 97-989

vs.

MANUEL E. TARACIDO, MEDICAL CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC., MEDICAL CENTERS OF AMERICA AT SOUTH FLORIDA, and MEDICAL CENTERS OF AMERICA AT CENTRAL FLORIDA,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NORMAN MALINSKI, P.A. 20803 Biscayne Boulevard Suite 200 Aventura, Florida 33180 Telephone: (305) 937-4242

Attorney for Respondents

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As previously indicated, the Statement of the Case and Facts as rendered by the Petitioners is largely accurate and will not be reiterated herein. However, it is worth while to point out (as also mentioned in the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal being reviewed herein) that the opinion of counsel that the Stock Purchase Agreement which formed the basis of the litigation was defective was nothing more than an opinion when rendered. The loss suffered by the Respondents which resulted in the litigation underlying this proceeding did not occur until the settlement of litigation in which these Respondents had been defendants. The attorney malpractice claim was made <u>after</u> the damages in the litigation had been ascertained.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The opinion of the District Court of Appeal in *Taracido v. Perez-Abreu Zamora & De La Fe, P.A.*, 705 So.2d 41 (1997) is consistent with this Court's prior decision in *Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Company v. Lane*, 565 So.2d 1323 (Fla. 1990) and aligns itself with all of the decisions in the various state courts following the *Peat, Marwick*, <u>supra</u>, decision. The opinion under review here establishes consistency, both with respect to economy and efficiency in litigation as well as in defining a point at which "redressable harm" can be determined.

The lawsuit brought by the Respondents/Plaintiffs in this case against the Petitioners/Defendants, was filed within two (2) years of the Plaintiffs' being required to pay damages based on a contract improperly drawn by the Defendants. Thus, the action was brought within two (2) years of a determination that redressable harm existed, thereby following this Court's pronouncement in *Peat, Marwick*, <u>supra</u>, and coming squarely within the Third District opinion, in <u>Bierman v. Miller</u>, 639 So.2d 627 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994):

No cause of action for legal malpractice "should be deemed to have accrued until the existence of redressable harm has been established." *Diaz v. Piquette*, 496 So.2d 239, 240 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), *rev. denied*, 506 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1987). *See also Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. V. Lane,* 565 So.2d 1323, 1325 (Fla. 1990)(cause of action for legal malpractice does not accrue until actionable error by attorney determined), and *Segall v. Segall*, 632 So.2d 76 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993)(same). Miller filed suit prematurely, as he has not yet suffered redress able harm. One of the central issues in the federal suit is the viability of the severance agreement: Miller's former employer seeks to void the agreement because of Miller's alleged fraud and misrepresentation; Miller seeks to enforce the agreement. Until the validity of the agreement is decided in federal court there can be no determination in the malpractice action as to whether Bierman was negligent in negotiating and drafting that agreement. Id at 628.

The lower Court's opinion in <u>this</u> case correctly concluded that it could not be determined that the Respondents had suffered any injury arising out of the Petitioners' negligence until the resolution of the law suit among the parties; the underlying litigation could well have been resolved favorably to the Plaintiffs and they would then have had no claim against the Defendants. <u>See, for example,</u> <u>Throneburg v. Boose, Casey, Ciklin, Lubitz, Martens, McBane & O'Connell, 659</u> So.2d 1134 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); <u>Spivey v. Trader, 620 So.2d 212</u> (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); <u>Adams v. Sommers, 475 So.2d 279</u> (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

To propel the parties into litigation without knowing that litigable damages existed would be antithetical to the concept set out in *Peat, Marwick*, <u>supra</u>.

ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS APPROPRIATELY DEFINED THE POINT AT WHICH A LEGAL MALPRACTICE CLAIM RIPENS

In August of 1990 the Plaintiffs had the Defendants prepare a contract and represent them in a sale of stock. Several years later, in April of 1990, a lawsuit was filed by the stock purchaser, asserting a series of claims, all premised on the stock sale. While that lawsuit was vigorously defended, the Plaintiffs' attorney advised the Plaintiffs, sometime in 1990, that it was his opinion that the underlying contracts were defective in that they failed to fully protect the Plaintiffs from claims brought under Chapter 517, Florida Statutes. In January of 1992, the litigation with the shareholder was resolved, at a cost to the Plaintiffs of approximately \$235,000.00. Within two (2) years of that resolution, this lawsuit was brought against the Defendants. On these facts, legal redressable harm did not exist until January of 1992 and this lawsuit, being brought within two (2) years of that time, is not barred by the two-year applicable Statute of Limitations.

This Court decided Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. V. Lane, 565 So.2d 1323

(Fla. 1990) in 1990, a decision which approved the reasoning of the Third District Court of Appeals with respect to when a legal malpractice statute of limitations begins to run. Quite apart from establishing that the limitations period begins to run when redressable harm in the form of an actual damage is determined, the Court enunciates a logic particularly applicable to this case:

> If we were to accept that argument [that notice of a potential malpractice commences running of the limitations period], the Lanes would have had to have filed their accounting malpractice action during the same time that they were challenging the IRS's deficiency notice in their tax court appeal. Such a course would have placed them in the wholly untenable position of having to take directly contrary positions in these two actions. In the tax court, the Lanes would be asserting that the deduction Peat Marwick advised them to take was proper, while they would simultaneously argue in a circuit court malpractice action that the deduction was unlawful and that Peat Marwick's advice was malpractice. To require a party to assert these two legally inconsistent positions in order to maintain a cause of action for professional malpractice is illogical and unjustified. Id at 1326.

This is also consistent with the Third District Court's holding that

[T]he salutary concomitant principles that premature, possibly useless, litigation should be discouraged and that no cause of action should therefore be deemed to have accrued until the existence of redress able harm has been established.

Diaz v. Piquette, 496 So.2d 239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986)

From this point of departure, we become involved in the question of defining "redressable harm". On that subject, both the Third District Court of Appeal and the Fourth District Court of Appeal have tended to define that phrase as contemplating an actual damage, not, as the Petitioner would have this Court conclude, some marginal, fanciful, or speculative damage. The most applicable decision is short, to the point and virtually identical with the circumstances of this case. In Bierman v. Miller, 639 So.2d 627 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1994) lawyers prepared a contract which was to protect the client from certain litigation which could have been brought against him at some point in the future. The contract failed to prevent the litigation and the client began to incur substantial legal fees in defense of a lawsuit brought against him. When that client sued his former law firm, the malpractice action was abated at the request of the defendants because damages could not be determined, and since the issue was whether the contract protected the client or whether it did not protect the In ruling that the malpractice lawsuit should be abated, and that the client. malpractice lawsuit was premature, this Court reviewed the status of malpractice actions in connection with the existence of redressable harm and stated:

No cause of action for legal malpractice "should be deemed to have accrued until the existence of redressable harm has been established." *Diaz v. Piquette*, 496 So.2d 239, 240 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), *rev. denied*, 506 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1987). *See also Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. V.*

Lane, 565 So.2d 1323, 1325 (Fla. 1990)(cause of action for legal malpractice does not accrue until actionable error by attorney determined), and *Segall v. Segall*, 632 So.2d 76 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993)(same). Miller filed suit prematurely, as he has not yet suffered redress able harm. One of the central issues in the federal suit is the viability of the severance agreement: Miller's former employer seeks to void the agreement because of Miller's alleged fraud and misrepresentation; Miller seeks to enforce the agreement. Until the validity of the agreement is decided in federal court there can be no determination in the malpractice action as to whether Bierman was negligent in negotiating and drafting that agreement. Id at 628.

There is no difference between the facts giving rise to the <u>Bierman</u> case and opinion and the facts giving rise to the Plaintiffs' action against the Defendants in this lawsuit. The underlying suit with the shareholder, while commenced and incurring attorney's fees, had not been resolved and could well have been resolved favorably to the Plaintiffs (the opinion of counsel for the Plaintiffs that the contracts were defective did not, *a fortiori*, ordain that the Plaintiffs would lose the lawsuit against the shareholder), thus incurring no cognizable loss to the Plaintiffs.

The Defendants' entire position vis-a-vis the Statute of Limitations centers on the fact that Plaintiffs' counsel advised them between April and June of 1990 that the agreements drawn by the Defendants failed to adequately protect them from claims of violating Chapter 517, Florida Statutes. That opinion of counsel to his clients has nothing to do with establishing redressable harm; it is the *existence* of redressable harm which gives rise to the cause of action. In <u>Zuckerman v. Ruden, Barnett,</u> <u>McCloskey, Smith, Shuster & Russell</u>, 670 So.2d 1050 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) the Third District Court of Appeals collected and summarized Florida law on the subject in considering whether knowledge that a law firm had failed to have the client's security interest properly perfected commenced the running of the limitations period:

Contrary to Ruden Barnett's assertions, Zuckerman's mere knowledge of possible malpractice is not dispositive of when a malpractice action accrues. *See Adams v. Sommers*, 475 So.2d 279 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). Rather, the test for determining when a legal malpractice cause of action has accrued is based upon the establishment of redressable harm. *Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co. V. Lane,* 565 So.2d 1323 (Fla. 1990); *Bierman v. Miller,* 639 So.2d 627 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

Here, unless Zuckerman is unable to foreclose on the mortgage, he will not have suffered damages proximately caused by Ruden Barnett's alleged failure to obtain the wife's signature on the mortgage. *See Bireman*, 639 So.2d at 627; *Spivey v. Trader*, 620 So.2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993); *Haghayegh v. Clark*, 520 So.2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). Only when the foreclosure action has been entirely resolved will the statute of limitations on the malpractice action begin to run. *Adams*, 475 So.2d at 279. Thus, Zuckerman's malpractice action is certainly not barred by the statute of limitations. Id. At 1051.

This holding is consistent with the Fourth District decision in Spivey v. Trader, 620

The existence of damages is an essential element to the accrual of a cause of action for legal malpractice. Here, Spivey vigorously contested the fact that the real estate, or his interest therein, was subject to attachment in the personal injury action filed against him personally. Indeed, the facts reveal the property itself was initially protected as entireties property when the personal injury action was brought, then became corporate property, and, finally, became entireties property again. The property apparently was never placed in Spivey's name alone, and it is not entirely clear just how Spivey's interest in the property was determined and made subject to attachment. Moreover, it was not until the property, or at least Spivey's interest therein, was determined to be subject to attachment, view the judgment in the supplemental proceedings, that Spivey actually suffered the injury now claimed. Had the personal injury judgment been satisfied out of other assets, (FNI) or from the co-defendant, or if the supplementary proceedings had resulted in an outcome favorable to Spivey, no cause of action would have accrued, since no damage would have occurred. Id at 215.

Throneburg v. Boose, Casey, Ciklin, Lubitz, Martens, McBane & O'Connell, 659

So.2d 1134 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), most recently ties this line of cases all back to

Peat, Marwick:

We understand *Peat Marwick* to draw a distinction between knowledge of actual harm from legal malpractice and knowledge of potential harm. The former begins the limitations period; the latter does not. Legal services, like accounting services, are often subject to differing views among practitioners. Lawyers often disagree with one another on the same transaction. It seems clear to us that Peat Marwick, properly understood, means that the limitations period on claims of legal malpractice should not commerce until it is reasonably clear that the client has actually suffered some damage from legal advice or services.

Throneberg at 1136.

The decision in Silverstrone v. Edel, 701 So.2d 90 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) which

is also under consideration by the Court is somewhat different factually and while it

is readily distinguishable from this case, the discussion by the Honorable Judge Sharp

in the dissent, again referring to this Court's decision in Peat, Marwick, supra, and

the theory set out therein, states:

I fully agree with the supreme court's statement that the basic principles for all professional malpractice actions should be the same, absent a clear legislative intent to the contrary. Peat, Marwick at 1325. Unfortunately, in practice it is unclear in Florida case law exactly when the statute of limitations begins to run in attorney malpractice cases. That, coupled with the uniqueness of legal malpractice actions generally, places a practitioner in the situation where he or she may have to file a legal malpractice claim before being comfortable that it is valid enough to warrant the imposition of such an expenditure on the client's part, or risk the running of the statute of limitations. This can only result in the filing of legal malpractice actions which should never be filed in the first place.

• • •

I think the better view would be that the statute of limitations did not start to run (at the earliest) until entry of the final judgment. Such a bright-line rule would give clarity and reduce litigation in the courts over *when* the statute starts to run, thereby resulting in judicial economy. <u>Silverstrone, supra</u>, at 93, 94.

This reasoning, together with the reasoning in the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal under review, is consistent with all significant decisions following this Court's opinion in <u>Peat, Marwick</u>. To the extent that the Petitioner herein seeks to revert the Court to pre-<u>Peat, Marwick</u> decisions, that would lead to an unraveling of a consistency among the districts which has yielded a clear standard by which the statute of limitations in legal malpractice can be measured. This Court should reject the Petitioners attempt to do so.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the decision of the District Court of Appeal under consideration by this Court is consistent with this Court's prior decision in <u>Peat</u>, <u>Marwick</u> and fully consistent with all of the decisions following <u>Peat</u>, <u>Marwick</u>. For this reason, this Court should dismiss the instant Petition for Writ of Certiorari or, alternatively, approve the decision rendered below.